THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
S. Philip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge  
Case No. 14-ALJ-15-0026

---

Appellate Case No. 2014-002592

---

Alfonso Ware, 168464,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Dept of Probation  
Parole and Pardon Services,

Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

**RECEIVED**

APR 08 2015

**SC Court of Appeals**

*Alfonso Ware*

---

Alfonso Ware

BRCI/Monticello 242; 168464  
4460 Broad River Road  
Columbia, SC 29210

**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Alfonso Ware Jr., 168464, was found guilty June 25, 1990 of murder. The Appellant was sentenced to life in prison.

The Appellant's first parole hearing and rejection was held on November 29, 2009; then January 4, 2011; after appellant received his last Notice of Rejection, date April 9, 2014; he filed a Petition for a rehearing dated April 17, 2014; after receiving the Board's Final Decision dated May 29, 2014.

The Appellant then filed a Notice of Appeal with the 'ALC' Administrative Law Court dated June 11, 2014 and filed on the same date, and assigned to the Honorable S. Philip Lenski on June 16, 2014.

The Appellant filed his Original (Initial Brief of Appellant) Brief to the Administrative Law Judge 'ALJ' August 18, 2014; The Respondent filed their Brief September 9, 2014; The Appellant followed with his Reply Brief September 18, 2014; and the Honorable S. Philip Lenski, ALJ Order to Dismiss filed on October 9, 2014; The Appellant filed a 59(e), Motion to Reconsider the Order of Dismissal October 17, 2014; the ALC did not respond to the said motion, but replied by sending another copy of the order on November 6, 2014; to which December 3, 2014, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal to the S.C. Court of Appeals and a formal notice to all parties received on the same date

December 3, 2014; whereas the Appellant is appealing the two (2) issues on appeal; and the Appellant brief supporting arguments follows.

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, apply improper criteria in deciding Appellant's parole, thereby making the Appellant ineligible for parole.
2. Did the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, go outside of their criteria for the granting of parole, when the parole board asked the Appellant about the victim, when they knew that the victim is deceased.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal from an Administrative Law Court ('A.L.C.') decision the Administrative Procedures Act ('A.P.A.'), provides the appropriate standard of review. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-610(B) (Supp 2012).

This court will only reverse the decision of a A.L.C. if that decision is:

- (A) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions,
- (B) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency,
- (C) made under unlawful procedure,
- (D) affected by other error of law
- (E) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and evidence on the whole record, or
- (F) arbitrary, capricious or characterized by an abuse discretion, or unwarranted exercise of discretion.

id "The court may not substitute it's judgment for the judgment of the (A.L.C.) as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." (alteration added). In determining whether the A.L.C.'s decision was supported by substantial evidence, this court need only find, looking at the entire record on appeal. Evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion that the A.L.C. reached. Hill v. Dept. of Health and Environmental Control, 698 SE2d 612 (2010).

## ARGUMENT ONE

1. DID THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPT. OF PROBATION, PAROLE, AND PARDON SERVICES, APPLY IMPROPER CRITERIA IN DECIDING APPELLANT'S PAROLE. THEREBY MAKING APPELLANT INELIGIBLE FOR PAROLE?

The point here is very simple. The South Carolina Parole was vested with the power, by the South Carolina Legislature to create specific criteria for the granting of parole. See, S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640. However, what the Respondents have created is a criteria for the consideration of parole.

Define: Specific, Granting, Consideration.

Specific: Of, relating to, or designating a particular or defined thing; explicit <specific duties> Black's Law Dictionary Ninth Edition pg. 1528.

Granting: To give or confer (something), with or without compensation. Black's Law Dictionary Ninth Edition pg. 769.

Consideration: Something (such as an act a forbearance or a return promise) bargained for and received by a promisor from a promisee; that which motivates a person to do something, esp. to engage in a legal act. Black's Law Dictionary Ninth Edition pg. 347.

The Respondent have failed to address the very simple point that there is a vast difference in specific criteria for the granting of parole and a criteria for parole consideration. The Appellant argues and what the Respondents have created proves

this. The Appellant does not argue the power of the Board to create the criteria or the Board's power to use the criteria, but only that what has been created and what the General Assembly gave the Board the power to create is not the same. The General Assembly state in S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (statute) create a specific criteria for the granting of parole.

The South Carolina Code of Law specifically state: The Board must carefully consider the record of the prisoner before, during and after imprisonment; and no such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the Board; that the prisoner has shown a disposition to reform, that in the future he will probably obey the law and lead a correct life, that by his conduct he has merited a lessening of the rigors of his imprisonment; that the interest of society will not be impaired thereby; and, that suitable employment has been secured for him.

The criteria that was ordered by the General Assembly must reflect all of the aspect of this section and include a review of the prisoner's disciplinary and other records. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (Supp 2013).

Looking at definition of the words specific, granting, and consideration, it is clear that what has been created by the Board and used to deny ~~appellant's~~ appellant's parole is not what the General Assembly wanted. Thereby making appellant ineligible for parole. A fact that has not been addressed by the Board.

The issue here is of statutory interpretation! "we must employ

the rule of statutory construction to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the General Assembly. See, Hawkins v. Bruno Yacht Sale Inc., 353 S.C. 174, 420 SE2d 843" "The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature" Media Gen. Commc'ns, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. of Revenue, 388 S.C. 138, 694 SE2d 529 (2010). The statutory language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute. The Board's decisions must not be arbitrary and capricious nor based on impermissible considerations. See, Zamivino v. Arnold, 531 F.2d 687. If the Board deviates from or fails to render its decision consideration of the appropriate criteria, it essentially abrogates a prisoners right to parole eligibility and thus infringes on a state-created liberty interest". See, cooper v. S.C.D.P.P.P.S., 377 S.C. 489, 661 SE2d 106 (2008), Barton v. S.C.D.P.P.P.S., 2013 WL 3366669, and also Bagley v. S.C.D.P.P.P.S., 2014 WL 4217379. Our State's highest courts has ruled that the Board must follow the intent of the General Assembly in statutory interpretation.

Respondents assert a right to use Victims Bill of Rights as a reason to use victim impact testimony in making parole decisions, however, this is not legally permissible. Victim rights end, at ~~xxxx~~ ~~xxxx~~ the PCR hearings.

By not addressing a valid critical appeal issue within their formal brief Respondents have abandoned the issue. See, S.C.A.C.R. Rule 208 (B)(1)(D), Divine v. Robbins, 385 S.C. 23, 683 SE2d 286 (Ct.App.2009)(noting when a party fails to cite authority or when

the argument is simply a conclusory statement, the party is deemed to have abandoned the issue on appeal, and therefore not reserved for our review).

Law of the Case Doctrine applies here because the Respondent's have failed to address the issue as raised before the ALC. An unappealed ruling right or wrong is the law of the case. See, Atlantic Const. Builder and Contractors, L.L.C. v. Lewis, 2012 WL 1700145. The Appellate Court will affirm unless the Appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case and the law of the case doctrine, both apply when a party does not challenge an issue on appeal where there has been an opportunity to do so. See, McKinney v. Pedery, 2013 WL 4082327, Miranda v. Nissan Motor Co. Ltd., 714 SE2d 30.

On page 5 of their response the parole board argues that "the attitude and opinion of the victim" must also be considered. They go on to say the South Carolina Code of Laws specifically state: The director must give a thirty day written notice of any board hearing during which the board will consider parole for a prisoner to the following persons:

- (1) any victim of the crime

They also list the Victim Bill of Rights and the S.C. Const. Art. 1 §24. In quoting these the Respondents state the following: A victim must "be informed of any proceeding when any post-conviction action is being considered and be present at any post-conviction hearing involving a post-conviction release decision".

"The Board did not commit any unlawful action by obtaining the opinion of the other parties. This notification is required pursuant to South Carolina Law. In making this declaration the Respondent left off one very important part of the S.C. Const. Art. 1 §24, "A victims rights under the Victim Bill of Rights terminate when the criminal proceedings and Post-Conviction Action against the alleged perpetrator are resolved". See, Ex Parte Littlefield, 540 SE2d 81. Once a criminal case has been resolved and the defendant is sentenced, the alleged victim loses his victim status under the Victim Bill of Rights.

#### ARGUMENT TWO

2. DID THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPT. OF PROBATION, PAROLE, AND PARDON SERVICES, GO OUTSIDE OF THE CRITERIA FOR THE GRANTING OF PAROLE, WHEN THE PAROLE BOARD ASKED THE APPELLANT ABOUT THE VICTIM WHEN THEY KNEW THAT THE VICTIM IS DECEASED?

Respondent again have attempted to change this issue! They admit that they may rely on the fact of the offense as part of the Appellant's record prior to incarceration, however, when a member of the parole board asked about the victim Robert Chanon, when they knew the victim was deceased. This line of questioning went beyond the record and into the facts of the condition of the victim. What must be considered is the offense and not the facts surrounding the offense. Nowhere in the statute §24-21-640 or any

of the Amendments thereto, is it permitted to use the consideration of the facts in making the parole decision.

The South Carolina Supreme Court in Hinton v. S.C.D.P.P.P.S., 357 S.C. 327, 592 SE2d 335 "we find it unacceptable that the parole board should look to the so called "facts" of the case to make this determination, for facts are almost always disputed, and neither this court nor the parole board has any way of extricating which particular 'facts' the jury decided were true and which were not.

The Doctrine of Res Judicata applies, this doctrine is commonly known as the claim preclusion, are to bring an end to litigation and prevent a defendant from being forced to defend the same action repeatedly, Garris v. Governing Board of S.C. Reinsurance Facility, 511 SE2d 48 (1998).

The three elements that prove res judicata are: 1. Identify of the parties (S.C.D.P.P.P.S., Alfonso Ware Jr. 168464); 2. Identity of the subject matter (the fact of the appellants conviction); and 3. Adjudication of the issue in the former suit (the facts of the appellants conviction were litigated in Lexington County Court of General Sessions in June 25, 1990). To continue to litigate the facts of that conviction is an egregious substantial and procedural due process violation.