STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court  
The Honorable S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Court Judge  
Case No. 2014-ALJ-15-0026

---

Appellate Case No. 2014-002592

---

RECEIVED

MAR 20 2015

SC Court of Appeals

ALPHONSO WARE, #168464.....APPELLANT

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION,  
PAROLE AND PARDON SERVICES,.....RESPONDENT

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**Tommy Evans, Jr.**  
**Assistant General Counsel**

**South Carolina Department of Probation  
Parole and Pardon Services  
P.O. Box 50666  
Columbia, South Carolina 29250**

**ATTORNEY FOR THE RESPONDENT**

**

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

- 1. Did the Respondent apply the proper criteria prior to denying the Appellant an opportunity to be released on parole?**
- 2. Did the Respondent go outside the criteria when the Board inquired about the victim who they knew was deceased?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 25, 1989, the Appellant shot the victim in the chest with a .22 caliber pistol. The victim later died as a result of his gunshot wounds, and the Appellant was arrested and charged, for the offense of murder.

On June 27, 1990, the Appellant appeared before the Honorable Hubert Long for this offense. Upon the conclusion of this appearance, Judge Long sentenced the Appellant to a period of incarceration for the remainder of his natural life. At the time the Appellant committed this offense, South Carolina law allowed an inmate serving a life sentence for murder parole eligibility upon the service of twenty (20) years.

The Appellant made his initial appearance before the Board on September 11, 2009. At the conclusion of this hearing, the Board decided to deny the Appellant an opportunity to be released on parole. Since this initial appearance, the Appellant has appeared before the Board an additional two times, each resulting in a denial of parole. His most recent appearance occurred on April 8, 2014, parole was denied due to: 1) the nature and seriousness of the current offense; 2) an indication of violence in his or a previous offense; 3) the use of a deadly weapon in this or a previous offense; and, 4) a prior criminal record that indicates poor community adjustment. (R.p.1). After receiving his notice of denial the Appellant issued a request for reconsideration. (R.p.2). Upon the receipt of this request the Board decided to reexamine the Appellant's file. After this examination, the Board determined that the reasons for this request did not affect the final decision of the Board, the request for reconsideration was denied. (R.p.3). Once the Appellant received the denial of reconsideration he filed a notice of appeal before the Administrative Law Court. On October 9, 2014, the Honorable S. Phillip Lenski Administrative Law Court Judge issued an order affirming the decision of the Parole Board. (R.p.42-p.44).

Once he received Judge Lenski's order the Appellant filed a notice of appeal before the South Carolina Court of Appeals. Within his appeal the Appellant argues that the Board erred by applying improper criteria prior to the denial of parole; that the Board created criteria is not identical to that found in South Carolina law; and, the Board went outside the criteria by inquiring about the deceased victim. In response, the Respondent will argue that the Board followed the mandates applied by the Supreme Court in the *Cooper* opinion; that the department criteria is identical to the statutory criteria; and, that it was not a violation of South Carolina law for the Board to consider the opinions of the victims, or inquiring about the deceased victim. The Respondent's Final Brief supporting their arguments follow.

### ARGUMENTS

**1. The Respondent followed the mandates proscribed by the South Carolina Supreme Court revealed in the *Cooper* opinion.**

The ALC correctly decided that as long as the Respondent can reveal all of the criteria was considered prior to the denial of parole, there cannot be any relief given to the Appellant. This determination was made pursuant to the South Carolina Supreme Court decision of *Cooper v. S.C. Dept. Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106 (2008).

Pursuant to South Carolina law, a final decision of an agency shall include a findings of fact and conclusions of law separately stated. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-350 (Supp. 2013). In *Cooper*, the Supreme Court decided that a finding of fact was included; however, the Court determined that the Parole Board neither, "offered an explanation nor indicated that it considered the statutory criteria of section 24-21-640 and the fifteen criteria listed on the parole form." *Id.*, at 500. The Supreme Court decided that if the Parole Board fails to consider and apply the statutory-related criteria, it has the effect of rendering an inmate parole ineligible, which warrants review by the ALC. *Id.*, at 502.

In *Cooper*, the Court established what future Parole Board orders should consist of, in *Cooper* it specifically states:

We emphasize that in future parole review hearings the Parole Board may avoid the result in the instant case if it clearly states in its order denying parole that it considered the factors outlined in section 24-21-640 and the fifteen factors published in its parole form. If the Board complies with this procedure, the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC would have limited authority to review the decision to determine whether the Board followed proper procedure.

*Id.*

In the case at bar, the order of denial did conform with the *Cooper* opinion. The findings of fact were the reasons provided as to why parole was denied; and, the conclusion of law are the statutes and factors used to determine the denial of parole. The order is clear, the criteria within the statute and the mandatory policy were considered prior to the denial of parole.

In *Cooper*, the court determined that the order denying parole was unlawful due to it not presenting any conclusions of law. It was the opinion of the Supreme Court that in order for the Board to prove that proper procedures were followed, it must not only state the findings of fact, but the statute and policy considered in reaching this conclusion. The order delivered to the Appellant is clear, the criteria within the statute and the mandatory policy were considered prior to the denial of parole. According to the Supreme Court, if this is shown no further review by the ALC is necessary.<sup>1</sup> The ALC ruled that pursuant to *Cooper*, the Board revealed a findings of fact and conclusion of law separately stated. Since the Court have given the ALC a narrow ability to review the decisions of the Board, their decision to affirm the denial of parole was valid and should be upheld.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Parole Board clearly stated in its notice of rejection that it considered the statutory criteria and the criteria set forth in Form 1212 which is sufficient under *Cooper. Compton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 385 S.C. 476, 685 S.E.2d 175 (2009).

The Appellant argues that the criteria of the Department is not identical to what was established pursuant to South Carolina law and not what the General Assembly wanted considered in a parole determination. The criteria the Board must consider is found in the South Carolina Code of Laws, which specifically state:

The board must carefully consider the record of the prisoner before, during and after imprisonment, and no such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board; that, the prisoner has shown a disposition to reform; that, in the future he will probably obey the law and lead a correct life; that by his conduct he has merited the lessening of the rigors of imprisonment; that the interest of society will not be impaired thereby; and that suitable employment has been secured for him.

S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640(Supp. 2013).

Pursuant to South Carolina law, “the board must establish written specific criteria for the granting of parole and provisional parole. This criteria must reflect all of the aspects of this section and include a review of a prisoner’s disciplinary and other records.” S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (Supp. 2013). The Appellant argues that the Department criteria does not reflect the criteria placed in the statute, the Respondent disagrees.

The Department has developed criteria that must be considered by the Board prior to the awarding of parole. (R.p.4). These criteria encompasses the above referenced criteria but more detailed. These criteria specifically state:

1. The risk the inmate poses to the community;
2. The nature and seriousness of the inmate’s offense, the circumstances surrounding the offense, and the inmate’s attitude toward it;
3. The inmate’s prior criminal records and his/her adjustment under any previous programs or supervision;
4. The inmate’s attitude toward his/her family, the victim, and authority in general;

5. The inmate's adjustment while in confinement, including his/her progress in counseling, therapy, and other similar programs designed to encourage the inmate to improve himself/herself;
6. The inmate's employment history, including his/her job training and skills and his/her stability in the work place;
7. The inmate's physical, mental and emotional health;
8. The inmate's understanding of the cause of his/her past criminal conduct;
9. The inmate's efforts to solve his/her problems, such as seeking treatment for substance abuse, enrolling in academic and vocational education courses, and in general using whatever resources the Department of Corrections has made available to inmates to help with their problems;
10. The adequacy of the inmate's overall parole plan. This includes inmates living arrangements, where he/she will live and who he will live with; the character of those with whom the inmate plans to associate in both his/her working hours and his/her off-work hours; the inmate's plans for gainful employment;
11. The willingness of the community into which the inmate will be released to receive the inmate;
12. The willingness of the inmate's family to allow him/her to return to the family circle;
13. The attitudes of the sentencing judge, the solicitor, and local law enforcement officers respecting the inmate's parole;
14. The feelings of the victim's family, and any witnesses to the crime about the release of the inmate;
15. Other factors considered relevant in a particular case by the Board.

The Appellant argues that this criteria does not match the criteria established in South Carolina law. Each of these criteria created by the Department encompasses all of the mandatory criteria found in South Carolina law. There exist no violation of the law for the Board to consider these criteria.

**2. The Department never deviated from the criteria, or go outside the criteria by inquiring about the victim, even though they knew of his death.**

The Appellant argues that the criteria does not allow the Board to raise issues regarding the underlying facts surrounding the offense of which he is currently incarcerated. To support this argument the Appellant cites the South Carolina Court of Appeals case of *Hinton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 357 S.C. 327, 592, S.E.2d 335 (Ct. App. 2004). In *Hinton*, the Court of Appeals ruled that pursuant to the subsequent violent offender statute, the Board cannot consider the facts of an out of state conviction to deny parole eligibility. That decision is not in any way similar to the present case. It must be considered reasonable for the Board to consider the facts of a case prior to deciding whether or not an inmate should be released back into the community. It is the Board's responsibility to make sure the community would not be in jeopardy if the Appellant is released on parole. One of the ways the Board makes the determination is by the crime committed. It should be less challenging for an inmate serving a sentence for shoplifting to be granted parole than one serving a sentence for murder.

The statute does refer to the record of the inmate before, during and after incarceration. The facts of the offense is part of the Appellant's record prior to incarceration. To request information concerning the victim is within the bounds of the Board's ability to inquire about the record before incarceration. When the General Assembly makes it mandatory that the Board carefully consider the record of the inmate before imprisonment, the violent nature of the actions of the Appellant must be considered.

The record of the prisoner prior to his imprisonment must be considered regardless of when it occurred; because this criteria informs the Board of the prisoners' possible conduct if released. The Board has the full authority to deny parole. Once the denial of parole is considered, the decision is final and cannot be reversed or reviewed by this Court. Parole eligibility is not a matter

within the jurisdiction of the trial court, but falls within the province of the Board of Probation, Parole, and Pardon. *Brown v. State*, 306 S.C. 381, 412 S.E.2d 399 (1991).

**3. Victim, law enforcement, and Solicitor notification is mandatory, and a consideration of their opinions is not unlawful.**

The Appellant argues that a victim's rights to provide their opinion ends after a post-conviction relief decision. Notification of a parole hearing must be given to the victim, law enforcement, and the solicitor, so their opinion can be taken into consideration. The South Carolina Code of Laws specifically state:

The director must give a thirty-day written notice of any board hearing during which the board will consider parole for a prisoner to the following persons:

- (1) Any victim of the crime who suffered damage to his person as a result thereof or if such victim is deceased, to members of his immediate family to the extent practicable;
- (2) The solicitor who prosecuted the prisoner or his successor in the jurisdiction in which the crime was prosecuted; and,
- (3) The law enforcement agency that was responsible for the arrest of the prisoner concerned.

S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-221 (Supp. 2013).

It is also listed in the victim's bill of rights that a victim must, "be informed of any proceeding when any post-conviction action is being considered and be present at any post-conviction hearing involving a post-conviction release decision." S.C. Const. art. I §24. The Board did not commit any unlawful action by obtaining and considering the opinion of the victim's family prior parole determination. The Appellant cites the case of *Ex Parte Littlefield*, 343 S.C. 212, 540 S.E.2d 81 (2000). He argues that in this case the Supreme Court decided, "once a criminal case has been resolved and the defendant is sentenced, the alleged victim loses his victim status under the Victims' Bill of Rights." *Littlefield*, at 221. However, *Littlefield*, relates to a "victim" whose case was dismissed, and is requesting the Court to re-open litigation for an order of restitution. In

*Littlefield*, the Court also ruled that, “the trial court cannot use the victim’s bill of rights to re-open a completed criminal proceeding.” *Id.* According to *Littlefield*, “a victim rights under the Victims Bill of Rights terminate when the criminal proceedings and the **post-conviction actions** against the alleged perpetrator are resolved.” *Id.*, at 219. (Emphasis added) It is clear that the victim has a right to voice their opinion at every post-conviction procedure, including a parole hearing. If the General Assembly did not wish the victim, law enforcement, or the solicitor to be heard, notice will not be mandatory.

A parole hearing is not a criminal trial. It is just a hearing to make a determination of whether or not an inmate should be released early from incarceration. Any person can voice their opinion regarding the release of the inmate from incarceration. The Board has to take any statement concerning an inmate under consideration. This includes anyone against parole, or speaking in the inmate’s behalf. If this Court denies victims access to the Board, all parties should not be allowed to address the board, including those appearing on behalf of the Appellant. If that is done it will curtail the Board’s ability to make an informative decision regarding an inmate’s parole.

**4. The doctrine of Res Judicata does not apply at parole hearings.**

The Appellant argues that Res Judicata bars him from being forced to repeatedly defend the same action. *Garris v. Governing Board of S.C. Reinsurance Facility*, 333 S.C. 432, 511 S.E.2d 48 (1998). This issue was never raised before the ALC; therefore, it was not preserved for appeal and should not be considered by this Court. In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003).

Even though it should not be considered Res Judicata does not apply. If this is the case, once the Appellant was denied parole he should remain incarcerated for the remainder of his natural life; however, pursuant to South Carolina law he is allowed to re-appear before the Board bi-annually.<sup>2</sup>

Res judicata bars subsequent actions by the same parties when the claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject of a prior action between those parties. *Plum Creek Dev. Co. v. City of Conway*, 334 S.C. 30, 512 S.E.2d 106 (1999); *Sub-Zero Freezer Co. v. R.J. Clarkson Co.*, 308 S.C. 188, 417 S.E.2d 569 (1992). Under the doctrine of res judicata, “[a] litigant is barred from raising any issues which were adjudicated in a former suit and any issues which might have been raised in the former suit.” *Plum Creek, supra*, (quoting *Hilton Head Center of South Carolina Inc. v. Public Service Comm’n of South Carolina*, 294 S.C. 9, 11, 362 S.E.2d 176, 177 (1987)). To establish res judicata, the defendant must prove the following three elements: (1) identity of the parties; (2) identity of the subject matter; and, (3) adjudication of the issue in a former suit. *Plum Creek, supra*; *Riedman Corp. v. Greenville Steel Structures, Inc.*, 308 S.C. 467, 419 S.E.2d 217 (1992); *Sealy v. Dodge*, 289 S.C. 543, 347 S.E.2d 504 (1986).

Since a parole hearing is not determined by a Court it cannot be considered an adjudication. A parole or probation proceeding is just an informal proceeding that stems from the criminal conviction of the Appellant. *See, State v. Franks*, 276 S.C. 636, 281 S.E.2d 227 (1981). For Res Judicata to apply there must be some type of adjudication which is defined as, “the entry of a decree by a court in respect to the parties in a case. BLACKS LAW DICTIONARY 39 (5<sup>th</sup> ed. 1979). During a parole hearing the determination of parole is made by the Board, the Court has no

---

<sup>2</sup> Upon a negative determination of parole prisoners in confinement for a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60 must have their cases reviewed every two years for the purpose of a determination of parole. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-645 (Supp. 1986).

jurisdiction. The Appellant argues that a parole hearing should be considered litigation; however, for Res Judicata to apply there must be not only litigation but an adjudication. An adjudication does not exist during a parole hearing; therefore, res judicata does not apply. Since this cannot be considered an adjudication the use of the prior record cannot be considered res judicata.

**5. The ALC made the correct decision not ruling on a question of fact.**

The Respondent contends that the ALC was correct in affirming the decision of the Parole Board. The arguments of the Appellant either have no merit, does not apply under the law, or relates to factual events given to the Parole Board which the Court has no jurisdiction. The Court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to weight of the evidence on questions of fact unless the agency's findings are clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the record. *Williams v. David Strafford Drywall*, 402 S.C. 173, 739 S.E.2d 892 (Ct. App. 2013).

The Respondent has never proven the Board failed to follow the criteria placed in statute or policy; therefore, the ALC did the correct thing in affirming the decision of the Parole Board. It remains the sole decision of the Parole Board to release an inmate upon meeting all of the mandatory criteria. The Parole Board has the sole authority to determine eligibility separate and apart from the court's authority to sentence a defendant. *State v. McKay*, 300 S.C. 113, 386 S.E.2d 623 (1989).